1970

Lee W. Hobbs, As Administrator With Will Annexed of the Estate of Joseph Buhler, Deceased v. Ethel Jeanne Buhler Fenton And James E. Fenton : Brief of Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellant, as administrator with Will annexed of the estate of Joseph Buhler, deceased, seeks to have certain stock certificates and bank accounts which at the time of decedent's death were in the name of Joseph Buhler and respondent, as joint tenants, declared property of the estate of the deceased and further requiring respondent to account to the estate for any and all property in respondent's possession which was held in joint tenancy by respondent and decedent.

DISPOSITION OF CASE

The Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, the Honorable Stewart M. Hanson presiding, entered a decree (R. 26) in favor of respondent and against appellant finding that respondent was the sole owner of the property, that appellant had no right, title, estate or interest in any of the property and that the complaint of appellant be dismissed with prejudice.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the Decree dated the 13th day of April, 1970, and a direction from the Court that the properties were in fact held by respondent in trust for the deceased and his estate, or, in the alternative, for a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to the taking of testimony, the trial court accepted a stipulation of the parties which established for the record certain uncontested facts. The stipulation provided that Joseph Buhler, hereinafter referred to as decedent, died testate on the 3rd day of March, 1968, and at the time of his death was a resident of Salt Lake County, State of Utah (R. 40). That on the 4th day of December, 1968, a Will executed by the deceased on the 15th day of December, 1961, was admitted to probate and appellant was named as administrator with Will annexed (R.

41). That on the 13th day of December, 1968, appellant demanded from respondent certain itemized stock certificates together with a \$400.00 checking account maintained with the Walker Bank & Trust Company. Appellant also demanded an accounting covering any other property that decedent had placed in decedent and respondent's name (R. 41). The stipulation further provided that all of decedent's property was so arranged that no property, other than an uncollected Judgment recovered by decedent against W. E. Maddison, existed to be probated should respondent prevail in the instant action (R. 42, 112).

Appellant does not desire to unduly burden this Court with an unnecessary recitation of the testimony as developed at the trial. However, because this case involves the difficult task of interpreting the intentions and desires of the decedent, and also requires a judgment as to the relationship that existed between a father and his children, appellant will briefly summarize the testimony.

The following witnesses testified on behalf of appellant. Mr. Ray George Buhler, a son of decedent, testified that the relationship between the witness and his father was close and typical of a father-son association (R. 44); that the witness observed no show of favoritism between his father and the children (R. 44-48); that his father advised him that the financial arrangement existing between decedent and respondent was for convenience and that respondent would settle decedent's affairs with the family after his death (R. 46); that Exhibits

1-P and 2-P were simultaneously sent to the witness by his father (R. 46, 47); that his father advised him that respondent had a "power of attorney" to handle decedent's affairs after he passed on, for the rest of the family (R. 50, 51).

Mr. Mac William Buhler, also a son of decedent, testified that he was very close to his father (R. 53); that the witness's adopted son was named after decedent (R. 54); that the decedent had executed a Will and forwarded a copy thereof to each child (R. 57, Exhibit 2P); that in 1963 decedent advised each child that they would receive equal shares of his estate, minus credits for previous loans advanced by decedent (R. 58, 59).

Norma Lorraine Buhler Reese, a daughter of decedent, testified that decedent lived with her for substantial periods of time after his divorce (R. 64); that she did his laundry (R. 64) and, for a certain period of time, donated her employment check to decedent (R. 66); that even after decedent had purchased a home, he would bathe at her home because his home was not equipped with adequate plumbing fixtures (R. 68); that decedent had suffered several physical ailments which prompted the joint tenancy arrangement between deceased and respondent (R. 73); that his estate was to be divided equally between the children (Exhibit 4-P, R. 73, 75).

Chester L. Reese, the husband of Norma Lorraine Buhler Reese, testified that deceased had ad-

vised him that if any child died, the children of the deceased child would share in the deceased child's portion of the estate R. 93).

Mr. James E. Fenton, husband of respondent, testified that, as a stock broker, he handled decedent's investments and that the investments were for the purposes of acquiring income and accumulating savings (R. 96); that decedent began putting his stock in joint tenancy with respondent in 1954 (R. 96); that decedent purchased the stock in his own name and thereafter issued or transferred the stocks to the joint tenancy arrangement (R. 97); that respondent never contributed to the funds which purchased the stock (R. 97); that the stock was the sole property of deceased (R. 97); that respondent never gained possession of the stock certificates, acknowledged receipt of delivery of the stock certificates or ever had possession of the bank account (R. 95, 97, 98 and 101); that decedent authorized respondent to sign the checks (R. 101); that all expenditures by respondent were for the benefit of decedent (R. 102); that respondent never exercised control or dominion over the stock certificates, the bank account or asserted any claim of ownership in the property (R. 102, 103 and 119).

The deposition of Irene Warr, a Salt Lake City attorney, was also published and made part of the record by appellant. According to the deposition, Miss Warr had a discussion with Mr. James E. Fenton on the 21st day of July, 1964, regarding decedent's financial condition and status (R. 128); that

Mr. Fenton advised Miss Warr that there was no need for the appointment of a guardian and that when decedent died, they (The Fentons) would make an accounting and distribution of the remaining estate to the family (R. 129, 130); that based on these representations, Miss Warr advised Mrs. Reese that there would be no need for a guardianship (R. 132); that at the time of this discussion with Mr. Fenton, there was no mention of any joint tenancy arrangement between decedent and respondent (R. 134).

The following witnesses testified on behalf of respondent. Mr. T. Quentin Cannon, a Salt Lake City attorney, testified that in 1955 he advised decedent to put the deed to decedent's home in joint tenancy (R. 87); that he explained the cost of probate as against joint tenancy disposition of property to decedent (R. 86); that he didn't describe the effect joint tenancy as affectively disinheriting the other four children to decedent (R. 89); that decedent wanted respondent to have the property.

Francis L. Buhler, a brother of deceased, testified that on June 14, 1961, he caused to have certain stock certificates transferred into joint tenancy between decedent and respondent (R. 141); that at this time, decedent also advised the witness as to the existence of a Will executed by decedent (R. 141).

Mrs. Bonnie Routh, a sister of deceased, testified that approximately ten years ago, she had a discussion with decedent wherein he stated that

he wanted the property to go to respondent. However, there was no discussion as to the other four children (R. 143).

Helen H. Buhler, the former wife of decedent's eldest son, testified that decedent wanted the property to go to respondent (R. 148); that she knew nothing of any Will actually executed by decedent or with whom decedent lived after his divorce (R. 149).

The extent of the testimony given by respondent was that, with respect to a telephone call from Miss Irene Warr, she advised Miss Warr that she had no details about decedent's financial status and she would have to refer Miss Warr to her husband, Mr. Fenton (R. 152).

During his lifetime, decedent executed several Wills which were introduced into evidence as Exhibits 2-P, 4-P and 6-P. The last Will of decedent, Exhibit 6-P, was prepared by respondent's husband, Mr. Fenton, who also took decedent to his place of business where the Will was executed and witnessed (R. 104).

Appellant submits that while the above summary is necessary to understand the intent and desire of decedent, one Exhibit reflects this in decedent's own handwriting and words. A portion of a letter written by decedent to his son, Ray, dated the 5th day of June, 1961, reads as follows:

. . . and am sending you my will, so you will have it when I pass from this life to the be-on; now don't get upset about the claws, in the will, about the three hundred dollars, which

will be deducted from your inheritance, from my will; So you see, you have got that amount already and \$60.00 dollars more, which is not taken off. Now you have got that amount of \$360.00 dollars and have had the use of it for more than ten years; So you are not going to lose any thing of the Estate, you will be getting \$60.00 more than the rest of your Brothers and Sister. (Exhibit 1-P)

Appellant respectfully submits that the above quoted letter accurately reflects the state-of-mind of decedent with respect to the distribution of his estate and also settles any question of his relationship with his children.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

A CONSTRUCTIVE TRUST IS CREATED IN FAVOR OF THE ESTATE OF THE DONOR WHEN A JOINT TENANCY ARRANGEMENT VESTS NO RIGHT, INTEREST OR CLAIM IN THE OTHER JOINT TENANT AND THE PURPOSE OF THE ARRANGEMENT IS TO AVOID PROBATE OF THE DONOR'S ESTATE.

Appellant immediately recognizes his burden of proof in attempting to impose on the property presently in respondent's possession a constructive trust for the benefit of decedent's estate. As stated by this Court in *Tangren vs. Ingells*, 12 Utah 2d 388, 394, 367 P. 2nd 179 (1961):

. . . where there is a written agreement of joint tenancy with right of survivorship there is a presumption of validity and it will be given effect unless it is successfully attacked for fraud, mistake, incapacity, or other infirmity, *or unless it is shown by clear and convincing evidence that the parties intended otherwise . . .* (Emphasis added.)

Appellant respectfully submits that the evidence adduced at the trial of the instant matter clearly and convincingly established that the decedent did not intend to create a legitimate joint tenancy between decedent and respondent and, further, that the acts and conduct of respondent dictate the conclusion that she understood decedent's intentions to be something other than the creation of a valid joint tenancy arrangement.

The rule pronounced in *Tangren vs. Ingells*, supra, with respect to the critical question being the intent of the parties, is consistent with the holding of *Braedzer vs. Loveland*, 12 Utah 2d 384, 367 P2d 177 (1961), wherein this court stated at 12 Utah 2d 385:

In any contest over the ownership of funds in such an account, the objective is to determine where the true ownership is, and this in turn often depends upon what the intent was in creating the account.

In ascertaining the intent of the parties, all material factors should be considered. After a careful review of the evidence, it cannot be seriously said that decedent intended to vest in respondent a

right, interest or claim of ownership in either the stock certificates or the bank account.

Several witnesses testified that the creation of the joint tenancy arrangement was for decedent's convenience and to eliminate decedent's apprehension that, should he become incapacitated, he would also become dependent on others to merely exist. It was also clear from the evidence that decedent was not the type of individual to tolerate dependence on anyone, for any reason.

This conclusion is further supported by the testimony of respondent's husband, Mr. James E. Fenton, who candidly admitted that the investments made by decedent were for the purpose of acquiring an independent income and accumulating savings for decedent's future use and benefit (R. 96). At no time did decedent intend respondent to be on an equal parity with respect to the benefits produced by the investments. The immediate income through dividends and the cultivation of a substantial portfolio were strictly subject to decedent's control and direction. This is further borne out by the acts and conduct of respondent, which will be discussed in more detail at a subsequent point in this brief.

Continuing with an analysis of decedent's intent, it is obvious that the cost of probate of a remaining estate was a supreme concern to decedent. The previously referred to testimony of T. Quentin Cannon aptly substantiates this as illustrated by the

following exchange that occurred during cross-examination:

Q. (By Mr. Frank) Was he (the deceased) concerned with what probate might entail?

A. That is not with probate, the cost of it.

Q. The cost of it?

A. Yes.

Q. And also the length of time involved in probate?

A. No, sir, he was concerned about money.
(R. 88)

In decedent's frame of mind, identical results would be reached whether his estate was probated or left to respondent, as a joint tenant, with the full although misplaced belief that respondent would make an accounting and distribution to the rest of the family after decedent's death. This is obviously what decedent intended.

However, this intent of decedent is in direct conflict with the rule announced by this court in *Culley vs. Culley*, 17 Utah 2d 62, 404 P2d 657 (1965), wherein this court stated at 17 Utah 2d 36:

It is to be kept in mind that if the transfer of the ownership of this account, if any there was, was intended to vest only upon the father's death, that would be an attempted testamentary disposition which did not conform to the requisits for a Will, and would therefore be

invalid to transfer ownership as the trial court ruled.

Therefore, the attempted joint tenancy transfer in the instant matter must be held void and the property in respondent's possession deemed impressed with a constructive trust for the benefit of decedent's estate.

Further, the execution of Exhibits 2-P, 4-P and 6-P, by decedent would have no ascertainable meaning if respondent's position was sustained. Decedent had been advised in 1955 by legal counsel that a will and a subsequent probate would be unnecessary if the joint tenancy arrangement was consummated. However, on several occasions after this date, decedent saw fit to indicate his intentions by and through the execution of these various wills. At the trial, respondent took the position that the only property to be disposed of by the referred to wills was an uncollected Judgment recovered by decedent against one W. E. Maddison. This argument is clearly facetious in light of the wording of the wills, which provide for the distribution of, ". . . all property, personal, real or mixed and including any settlement realized from the court judgment for \$18,000.00 awarded to me against W. E. Maddison, to my children as follows . . ." (Exhibit 6-P).

Finally decedent in his own handwriting, and words expressed his intent as to the distribution of his estate in Exhibit 1-P, a portion of which has been previously quoted by appellant in this brief.

In considering the intent and understanding of respondent, several circumstances should be noted. It is admitted that at no time did respondent contribute to any of the funds utilized to make the stock purchases or which constituted the checking account with Walker Bank & Trust Company (R. 97).

Further, respondent asserted no claim of ownership to any of the property during the lifetime of decedent. Because of the importance of this fact, appellant would direct the court's attention to the following questions propounded to Mr. James E. Fenton, husband of respondent, and Mr. Fenton's responses thereto:

Q. (By Mr. Frank) So what it boils down to, Mr. Fenton, is that although the stocks and the bank accounts were in the joint names of your father-in-law and your wife, your wife never assumed any control over them, did she, except for his use and benefit?

A. That is correct.

* * *

Q. (Mr. Frank) I take it from what you have said, and the total scope of your testimony, your wife asserted no claim of ownership to either the bank accounts of stock until after the death of your father-in-law, is this correct?

A. That is correct.

Respondent's total lack of any claim, interest or right in the joint tenancy property is further il-

lustrated by the fact that authority from decedent was obtained before checks on the joint checking account were executed by respondent (R. 101). Had the joint tenancy arrangement been legitimate and effective, no such authority would be needed. See Exhibit 11-D, which sets forth the joint tenancy agreement between the parties and the bank.

The evidence clearly indicates that the requirements necessary to create a joint tenancy were not present nor intended by the parties to this arrangement. As stated in 20 Am. Jur. 2d sec. 4, page 96:

. . . the tenants must have one and the same interest; the interest must accrue by one and the same conveyance; they must commence at one and the same time; and the property must be held by one and the same underwritten possession. In other words, there must be the following four unities: (1) unity of interest, (2) unity of title, (3) unity of time, (4) unity of possession.

Although the above mentioned four unities are not requisits to joint tenancy bank accounts, *Hanks vs. Hales*, 17 Utah 2d 344, 411 P2d 836 (1966), the requirements obviously apply to the stock certificates in that the issuance or transfer of ownership in stock certificates is not a question of contract such as that involved in the creation of a joint tenancy bank account.

A further indication of the understanding of respondent of the joint tenancy arrangement is found

in the deposition of Miss Irene Warr which sets forth the discussion between Miss Warr and James E. Fenton, in July, 1964. At the trial and during the course of the deposition, respondent objected to this conversation on the grounds that it was hearsay evidence. However, appellant submits that the record clearly indicates that Mr. Fenton visited Miss Warr at respondent's direction and request. This is the substance of Mr. Fenton's testimony (R. 105, 106) and respondent also testified that she advised Miss Warr that she had no details concerning decedent's financial condition or status and that Miss Warr would have to talk to Mr. Fenton (R. 152).

As stated in 2 Jones on Evidence, sec. 356, page 670 (1958):

If a party to a proceeding expressly refers to another person as being one whom he has empowered to answer on a particular subject in dispute, the answer given is in general evidence against him for the reason that he makes such third party his accredited agent for the purpose of giving the answer.

Also, this court states in *Jones vs. Allen*, 7 Utah 2d 79, 85, 318 P2d 637 (1957):

If a party, instead of expressing his belief in his own words, names another person as one whose expected utterances he approves beforehand, this amounts to an anticipatory adoption of that person's statement; and it becomes, when made, the parties own.

As the record indicates, Mr. Fenton did not advise Miss Warr as to the existence of the joint tenancy arrangement and, further, states that on decedent's death, an accounting and distribution of the remaining estate would be made to the rest of the family (R. 129, 130 and 132). Based on this conversation, Miss Warr advised Mrs. Reese, a daughter of decedent, that a guardianship was not necessary, that decedent was financially secure and that distribution would be forthcoming.

CONCLUSION

It is apparent that the trial court disregarded the clear and convincing evidence. Neither party to the joint tenancy arrangement intended respondent to have any right, interest or claim of ownership in the subject property until decedent's death. The rationale of *Culley vs. Culley*, supra, should be applied to render the transfer void and impress on the property presently in the possession of respondent a constructive trust for the use and benefit of decedent's estate.