1970

**Lee W. Hobbs, As Administrator With Will Annexed of the Estate of Joseph Buhler, Deceased v. Ethel Jeanne Buhler Fenton And James E. Fenton : Brief of Respondent**

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Statement of Facts by Appellant does not include the very substantial evidence on which the trial court based its decision. However, we believe that we can best detail that evidence in connection with our Argument.

- I. *The Trial Court Found that Mr. Buhler (the Deceased) Placed the Property in Question in Joint Tenancy With His Daughter Ethel; That He Fully Understood that this Would Automatically Result in the Full Title Vesting in the Defendant at his Death, and that He Desired and*

*Intended For Her to Have the Property. The Evidence Fully Supports The Finding.*

The trial court by its Findings Nos. 4, 5 and 6 (Tr. 30) found: That the decedent began to transfer various stocks and other properties owned by him into his name and the name of his daughter Ethel (the defendant) as joint tenants, with full rights of survivorship. That these transfers began in 1954, and continued from time to time over a period of approximately eleven years. The court then found that the deceased fully understood that by so placing title to his property in joint tenancy, with full rights of survivorship, the same would automatically vest full title to all of said property in the defendant on his death; "the said deceased desired and intended to so vest title to all of said joint tenancy property in the defendant, and legally and effectively did so."

The court also found that plaintiff had made no claim, and that there was no evidence to show fraud, mistake, or undue influence. The court also found that the complaint does not seek reformation of any of the contracts or documents placing any of the properties in joint tenancy, and that the evidence does not show any basis for reformation, nor any basis for determining that the defendant holds said properties in trust. (Finding 6, Tr. 30).

Before proceeding to detail the evidence, we first direct the court's attention to three recent Utah cases.

## THE LAW

In *Beehive State Bank v. Rosquist*, 21 Ut. 2d 17, 439 P. 2d 468, (1968) the court reviewed all of its recent decisions, and said:

“It seems to us that what all of the recent cases have been trying to say is this:

“If the contract between the parties ostensibly creates a joint tenancy relationship with full right of survivorship, there arises a presumption that such is the case unless and until some interested party shows under equitable rules that the contract should be reformed to show some other agreement of the parties or that the contract is not enforceable because of fraud, mistake, incapacity, or other infirmity.

“We hold that the law is as above stated.”

This holding was reaffirmed by the Utah Supreme Court on July 13, 1970, in *In the Matter of the Estate of Frank J. Spitters, Deceased v. Frances M. Newbold*, No. 12012.

We also direct the court's attention to the case of *Continental Bank & Trust Co. v. Kimball*, 21 Ut. 2d 152, 442 P. 2d 472 (1968). In this case an effort was made to bring savings accounts in various savings and loan institutions into the estate. The accounts were joint accounts with rights of survivorship, and the court said that the “sole” issue on appeal is whether the appellant (the estate) can introduce evidence to alter the apparent contractual relationship in connection with the joint accounts. Only one of the joint accounts had been opened

after January 1, 1962, the effective date of Chapter 17, § 38, Laws of Utah, 1961, dealing with joint savings accounts. This statute provided that the opening of a joint tenancy account "in the absence of fraud or undue influence (shall) be conclusive evidence" of the intention of all of the parties to vest title in such accounts in the survivor. The Supreme Court held that as to the one account opened after the effective date of this statute, the mere opening of the account was conclusive as to the intent, and that in the absence of fraud or undue influence, no evidence of a contrary intent could be introduced in evidence. The court went on to hold that the statute did not apply to the accounts which had been opened prior to the statute. The older accounts, said the court, were controlled by the principles announced in *Beehive State Bank v. Rosquist*, supra. The court quoted its holding from the *Beehive State Bank* case (as quoted above) and then went on to hold that since the estate is not trying to reform the contract, and is not claiming fraud, mistake, incapacity or other infirmity,

"we think that it is conclusively bound by the contract as made, and cannot show that the parties intended a result contrary to that which the law of joint tenancy relationship imposes."

The Supreme Court thereupon affirmed the order of the trial court dismissing the estate's complaint with prejudice, thus holding that where there is no assertion of fraud, undue influence, etc., the court should not even hear evidence to contradict the presumption which arises out of the jointly tenancy contractual relationship.

In this case the complaint did not seek to reform any of the joint tenancy relationships, nor did it claim fraud, mistake, undue influence or incapacity. The court expressly found:

“6. That there has been no claim made and there is no evidence to show fraud, mistake or undue influence. The complaint does not seek reformation of any of the contracts or documents placing any of the properties listed above in joint tenancy and the evidence does not show any basis for reformation, nor any basis for determining that defendant holds said properties in trust.” (Finding No. 6, Tr. 30)

Under the holding of this court in *Continental Bank & Trust Co. v. Kimball*, supra, that in and of itself should have disposed of the matter. However, the court admitted testimony, subject to the objection of the defendant, and then expressly found, as noted, that the deceased fully understood the nature of the joint tenancy relationship, that he intended his daughter Ethel to have the property. We now proceed to detail that evidence.

## THE EVIDENCE

The process of transferring the properties into joint tenancy commenced in 1954 (Ex. 9-D Tr. 113). In 1955 Mr. Buhler (the decedent) consulted Attorney T. Quentin Cannon about preparing a will. (Tr. 85) Mr. Cannon inquired about Mr. Buhler's property, and whom he wanted to have the property on his death. Mr. Buhler advised him that he had a home, some bank accounts and an automobile. He also told him that he had some stocks and bonds, that were in his name and

the name of one of his children. (Tr. 85) Mr. Buhler told Mr. Cannon he wanted the home to go to his daughter Ethel. (Tr. 85) Mr. Cannon explained two alternatives: One would be to put the home in joint tenancy in Mr. Buhler's name and the name of his daughter Ethel, and the other would be to convey the home to Ethel and reserve a life estate. (Tr. 86) Mr. Cannon explained to Mr. Buhler the effect of holding property in joint tenancy. Mr. Buhler concluded that that is the way he wanted to do it. A deed was prepared, (Tr. 86) Mr. Buhler executed it on January 28, 1955, and the deed is in evidence as Ex. 5-P.

On cross-examination Mr. Cannon stated again and again that he had advised Mr. Buhler about the legal effect of holding property in joint tenancy — that if he put property in his name and the name of his daughter, Ethel, as joint tenants, she would get it on his death. He told him: "That is just the same as making it where she can go down to the bank and take out all your money, and she can acquiesce in any of these things." (Tr. 89) He was asked if he told Mr. Buhler that this would effectively disinherit his four other children, and Mr. Cannon said that he didn't expressly say that, but that he did say that Ethel would get the property, and that this is the way Mr. Buhler wanted it. (Tr. 89) He was asked if he is sure that he told Mr. Buhler this, or if he was merely testifying this way because such would be his normal advice. Mr. Cannon testified that he was sure that he had advised Mr. Buhler, that he recalled the conversation, and then he was asked:

“Q. And it was his intent to disinherit his four children?

“A. It was his full intent to give it all to her (referring to Ethel).” (Tr. 90)

He was also asked:

“Q. It was his desire that he was disinheriting his other children?

“A. It was his desire that his daughter should have the property.

“Q. In exclusion to all his other children, or did he say that?

“A. I am sure I told him if he did it this way she would be the only one. She would have any of his properties.” (Tr. 88-89)

Mr. Francis L. Buhler, who is a brother of the deceased, testified that on June 14, 1961, the deceased came to the home of Francis to transfer certain stock into the name of the deceased and his daughter Ethel “with joint tenancy and survivorship.” (Tr. 141) Francis said:

“‘Joe, do you really want to do this?’ I said, ‘What about the other children?’ He said, ‘No, that is the way I want it.’”

Mrs. Bonnie Routh, a sister of decedent, testified that she had visited with the decedent and talked with him about his property. He told her that he was investing in stock; that he knew that his daughter Ethel and her husband Jim “will take care of me,” and “what is left is their’s because I wouldn’t have the stock if it wasn’t for them.” (Tr. 143)

Helen H. Buhler was married to LeGrande Joseph Buhler, one of the other children. (Tr. 144, 148) The deceased had been divorced in 1944. (Tr. 43) He told Helen that the only two people who stood by him after his divorce and really helped him were Jim and Ethel, and he said that the property he held was in joint tenancy, and was to remain in the name of Ethel. (Tr. 146) She testified that when the deceased came back from visits with his daughter Lorraine he frequently would have a document in the form of a will, and on several occasions he requested her to "throw them in the garbage can, and that is what I did." (Tr. 146) He told her that he didn't want to make any provision for his other four children, and that the only time they ever came to see him was to borrow money. (Tr. 147)

The record thus clearly shows that the decedent understood the legal consequences of placing his property in joint tenancy with his daughter Ethel. It had been explained to him in detail in 1955 by his attorney. His brother had questioned the wisdom of doing this in 1961, and asked: "What about the other children?", but he unequivocally told his attorney, his brother, his sister, and the wife of one of his sons that this was the way he wanted it, and that he wanted Ethel to have the property. The court expressly so found (Tr. 30) and this evidence abundantly supports that finding.

There also is no dispute in the evidence concerning the formal transfer of all of the property into joint tenancy. The home was transferred by a deed prepared

by T. Quentin Cannon in 1955. The deed is in evidence as Ex. 5-P.

The bank account was transferred into joint tenancy in December of 1962. This was after the effective date of Section 38, Chapter 17, Laws of Utah, 1961. Ex. 11-D shows that in November 1962 the bank account was in the sole name of "Joe Buhler." The December bank statement shows the account to be in the joint names of "Joe Buhler and Mrs. Ethel Buhler Fenton." It was stipulated that Ex. 11-D is a xerox copy of the front of the joint tenancy bank card, and the printed orange colored card is the back. (Tr. 114) The card recites that the signers agree with each other and the bank that all sums credited to this joint account shall be owned by them jointly with right of survivorship, etc.

Mr. Fenton testified that when Mr. Buhler purchased the stocks he made the purchase in his individual account. (Tr. 116) However, with each purchase he would instruct the broker how he wanted the certificate issued. (Tr. 1-16, 119) Ex. 13-D is an example of the type of written instructions given with the purchase through Edward L. Burton Co. (Tr. 116) This exhibit shows the account to be in the name of "Mr. Joseph Buhler." The exhibit shows the security purchased, and then there is a blank for transfer instructions. In this blank is written, "Joseph Buhler and Mrs. Ethel Buhler Fenton, as joint tenants, etc." and it is signed by Mr. Buhler. (Ex. 13-D, Tr. 117) Later purchases were made through Dempsey Tegler & Co. Its procedure was to require specific instructions from the individual over

his signature, and if it is to be placed in joint tenancy, a joint tenancy card signed by both joint tenants was required. Mr. Fenton obtained these cards for the three purchases made through Dempsey-Tegler Co. (Tr. 119)

Ex. 9-D shows a list of all the stock, when it was purchased, and when it was placed in joint tenancy. (Tr. 113) There is no evidence at all to the effect that any of these joint tenancies were not properly created. There is no doubt concerning the fact that Mr. Buhler was fully aware for more than fourteen years that his daughter appeared as a joint tenant with him. The dividend checks came in their joint names. He always took the trouble to bring the check over to Ethel for her to sign. (Tr. 98, 152) He personally went to an attorney, and followed the attorney's advice in regard to placing the house and lot in joint tenancy. (Tr. 87-90) When he discovered some Mountain Fuel Supply stock which had been purchased in 1951 (Ex. 9-D) and not transferred into the joint names, he had this done in 1964. (Tr. 96) We thus have a situation where he perfected the transfer into joint tenancy, and did so with considerable formality, and in strict accordance with legal requirements. The trial court expressly so found. (Finding No. 5, Tr. 30)

No contention was made, that Mr. Buhler was ever incompetent. The pleadings do not assert it, and there was no testimony to this effect. It was not an issue at the trial. There is a reference on page 16 of Appellant's Brief that Mrs. Reese was induced not to have a guardian appointed, because of a conversation between Attorney

Irene Warr and Mr. Fenton. This suggests that there were grounds for appointment of a guardian. Since this was not an issue raised in the pleadings, nor during the trial, no evidence was directed to this point. However, to the extent that there are references, they show that Mr. Buhler was competent. For example, he executed a will on December 15, 1961 (Ex. 6-P), and on the 4th of December, 1968, this will was admitted to probate at the request of the appellant, (Tr. 41) Mr. Fenton testified that he was of sound mind when he executed it. (Tr. 105) A year later in December of 1962, Mr. Buhler himself secured a bank joint tenancy card, and arranged the transfer of his bank account to joint tenancy. (Tr. 98, 114, 152) On June 14, 1961, he personally took his stock certificates in the Big Four Mining Co. to his brother Francis for transfer. (Tr. 102) On September 3, 1963, one of his sons wrote a letter to Mr. Buhler in an effort to borrow \$1,500 or 2,000, (Ex. 3-D) but the father refused to make the loan. (Tr. 70) This son also testified that in 1963 he telephoned his father for a loan, (Tr. 59) and that his father turned him down on the loan also. He went into the rest home in the Summer of 1964. (Tr. 76) It appears that Mr. Buhler was conducting his own affairs from the rest home, for he sold his residence while he was there, and approved stock purchases. (Tr. 119) We state unequivocally that nobody in the entire record made any statement of any kind even to suggest that Mr. Buhler was ever an incompetent before his death, and there is no basis for the statement that a guardian could have been appointed for him.

Appellant relies on an incomplete will dated in April of 1959 (Ex. 2-P); on a letter to a son dated June 5, 1961, enclosing that will (Ex. 1-P); on another incomplete will dated in November of 1959 (Ex. 4-P); and on an executed will which was admitted to probate (Ex. 6, Tr. 40), in support of his contention that the evidence "clearly and convincingly establishes that decedent did not intend to create a legitimate joint tenancy."

We submit that these documents do not rebut, nor do they even contradict the positive and direct testimony outlined above. The 1959 incomplete wills were dated nearly nine years before Mr. Buhler died in March of 1968. (Tr. 40) The fact that he did not complete either of these wills suggests that his intent was not fully formulated. However, even if we were to assume that these incomplete wills and the letter evidenced a state of mind in 1959 and in June of 1961 to divide the property equally among his five children, it is, nevertheless, conclusively shown that he changed his mind. We say this, because the will he executed in December, 1961 (Ex. 6-P) effectively disinherited his three sons. It gave each of them only \$100, and the remainder of the property he owned at his death was to be divided equally between the two daughters. We will discuss this 1961 will later, but first we desire to comment on the two incomplete wills of April and November 1959.

The April, 1959, will enumerates certain specific properties, and the evidence indicates that he owned such properties, and that they were not in joint tenancy. For example, Ex. 2-P mentions an automobile, and his

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